71303-5

No. 71303-5-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOSE MARRUFO-SARINANA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

· OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN 5

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- The deputy prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument.
- The court erred in imposing the following condition of community custody: "Do not date women or form relationships with families who have minor children, as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer." CP 20.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>.

- 1. The State's duty to ensure a fair trial precludes a deputy prosecutor from employing improper argument and tactics during trial. Where the deputy prosecutor appealed to the jury's passion and prejudice, vouched for the credibility of the alleged victim, and misstated the law during closing argument, did this cumulative misconduct require reversal?
- 2. Community custody conditions must be related to the crime of conviction and must be in accordance with due process. Where the condition prohibiting Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana from contact with families with minor children fails to provide sufficient notice or fair warning of the proscribed conduct, must the condition be stricken as unconstitutionally vague?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In February 2013, Jose Marrufo-Sarinana was living in Everett with his girlfriend, Reyna, and her three daughters – Kristal (15), Yulene (11), and Ashley (8). 10/29/13 RP 15-17.

On the night of February 17, 2013, 11-year old Yulene fell asleep watching television in her mother's room, and ended up sleeping all night in the bed that her mother and Jose shared. <u>Id</u>. at 20-23, 80-84. Reyna, the mother, slept in the middle of the bed, with her daughter Yulene on one side, and Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana on the other. <u>Id</u>. at 24-25, 83-84.

In the morning, Reyna woke up at approximately 5:00 a.m., as she usually did, got ready for work, and left Yulene and Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana asleep and left for work. Id. at 83-84. Yulene stated that she awoke and noticed her mother was gone, and that Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana was hugging her. Id. at 26. Yulene claimed that Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana placed his hand on her stomach underneath her shirt, and that his hand touched her breast underneath the bra she had worn to bed. Id.

¹ First names are used to protect the anonymity of the witnesses; no disrespect is intended.

at 26-28. She also stated that his hand had gone "into [the] waistband" of her sweatpants. <u>Id</u>. at 30.²

Yulene left her mother's room and immediately told her older sister Kristal what she believed had happened. <u>Id</u>. at 36-38, 57-59. Kristal texted Reyna to come home from work immediately; Kristal also called the police. <u>Id</u>. 58-59, 61.

Everett police detectives interviewed Yulene and Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana, who waived his Miranda³ rights in Spanish. In his statement, Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana wrote that he had hugged Yulene from the back, but denied that he had touched her inappropriately. 10/29/13 RP 145. He was arrested and charged with one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 53-54.

Following a jury trial, Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana was convicted as charged. 10/30/13 RP 34; CP 26.

² Yulene stated that her sweatpants were high-waisted, and that Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana never moved his hand below her waistband or her navel. 10/29/13 RP 32.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. MR. MARRUFO-SARINANA'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.
 - a. Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana has a right to due process.

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the right to a fair trial before an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 21, 22. The right to a fair trial includes the presumption of innocence. Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976); State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 759, 927 P.2d P.2d 1129 (1996). The Fourteenth Amendment also "protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970).

The requirement that the government prove a criminal charge beyond a reasonable doubt – along with the right to a jury trial – has consistently played an important role in protecting the integrity of the

³ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). At trial, Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana stipulated to the voluntariness of his statements to police. CP 54-57

American criminal justice system. <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 301-02, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2000); <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000).

b. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument deprived Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana of his right to a fair trial.

Prosecutorial misconduct violates the due process right to a fair trial when there is a substantial likelihood the prosecutor's misconduct affected the jury's verdict. Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, 765, 107 S.Ct. 3102, 97 L.Ed.2d 618 (1987); State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984) ("only a fair trial is a constitutional trial"); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

A prosecutor's improper argument may deny a defendant his right to a fair trial, as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 297 P.3d 551 (2011). A prosecutor, as a quasi-judicial officer, has a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 420 (1993) (citing State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 835, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)); State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663,

440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969) (citation omitted); see also State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 147, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).

To determine whether prosecutorial comments constitute misconduct, the reviewing court must decide first whether such comments were improper, and if so, whether a "substantial likelihood" exists that the comments affected the jury." Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145.

The burden is on the defendant to show that the prosecutorial comments rose to the level of misconduct requiring a new trial. State v. Sith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 19, 856 P.2d 415 (1993).

c. The prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the emotions of the jury in closing argument.

Because a prosecutor's duty is to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason, he or she must refrain from arguments that deliberately appeal to the jury's passions or biases. State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 70-71, 298 P.2d 500 (1956); State v. Belgrade, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); In re Detention of Gaff, 90 Wn. App. 834, 841, 954 P.2d 943 (1998) ("A prosecutor may not properly invite the jury to decide any case based on emotional appeals.").

Here, the deputy prosecutor injected emotion into his closing argument by presenting a "real world" narrative where "bad things happen, and people do bad things to children." 10/30/13 RP 21. In the prosecutor's "real world, ... oftentimes [bad things] stay secret." Id.

As the deputy prosecutor built on this theme, the rhetoric continued:

STATE: And this is the building where those things are

revealed: this is the building where people that prey on children are held accountable. And

that's exactly what -

DEFENSE: Objection, Your Honor.

STATE: -- I am asking you to do.

DEFENSE: Appealing to the passion and prejudice of the

jury.

THE COURT: Overruled.

STATE: I was almost done. This is the [sic] exactly where

those people are held accountable. And that's what I'm asking you to do by returning a verdict

of guilty. Thank you.

10/30/13 RP 21-22 (emphasis added).

The deputy prosecutor injected emotion into the deliberation process by asking the jury for assurances that "people that prey on children" will be "held accountable." <u>Id</u>. at 21-22. The jury's duty to is

determine whether the State proved all the elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt based on the evidence or the lack of evidence presented at trial, not in order to hold "those people" – implying all people who "do bad things to children" -- accountable. <u>Id</u>. at 21.

This is because a prosecutor may not ask a jury to return a jury verdict in order to send a message, or to act as the conscience of the community. See State v. Bautista-Caldera, 56 Wn. App. 186, 195, 783 P.2d 116 (1989) (finding prosecutor's request to let the victim and "children know that you're ready to believe them" improper), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1011, 790 P.2d 169 (1990); State v. Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914, 918-19, 816 P.2d 86 (1991) (improper to exhort jury to send a message regarding child abuse), review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013, 824 P.2d 491 (1992). In State v. Perez-Mejia, this Court reversed a murder conviction due to prosecutorial arguments that encouraged jurors to use their verdict to correct a larger societal problem. 134 Wn. App. 907, 917-18, 143 P.3d 838 (2006) ("it is improper for a prosecutor to 'direct the jurors' desires to end a social problem toward convicting a particular defendant.") (internal citation omitted).

Because the deputy prosecutor's argument here, which urged jurors to return a guilty verdict in order to punish "those people" who "prey on children," is analogous to the argument this Court found improper in Perez-Mejia, reversal must be granted. 134 Wn. App. at 921.

d. The prosecutor committed misconduct by expressing a personal opinion about the complainant's credibility.

It is misconduct for a prosecutor to state a personal belief as to the credibility of a witness in the form of an opinion. State v. Lindsay,

___ Wn.2d ___, 326 P.3d 125, 132 (2014) (citing Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145); State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 196, 241 P.3d 389 (2010). A prosecutor's personal opinion on witness credibility is problematic because "[a] jury is especially likely to perceive the prosecutor as an 'expert' on matters of witness credibility, which he addresses everyday in his role as representative of the government in criminal trials." United States v. McKoy, 771 F.2d 1207, 1211 (9th Cir. 1985).

Here, the deputy prosecutor vouched for the alleged victim, expressing his personal opinion that she was telling the truth – "If you think for some reason she was lying, she deserves an Academy Award. And that was from start to finish in this case." 10/30/13 RP 14. Instead

of approaching the evidence as a dispassionate advocate for the State, the prosecutor argued that Yulene's testimony was so convincing that even if the jury chose <u>not</u> to convict, the child should receive an award for her acting abilities. 10/30/13 RP 14. Such statements are improper and "suggest not the dispassionate proceedings of an American jury trial." Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 146-47.

e. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law and trivializing the reasonable doubt standard in closing argument.

"When a prosecutor compares the reasonable doubt standard to everyday decision making, it improperly minimizes and trivializes the gravity of the standard and the jury's role." Lindsay, 326 P.3d at 132; State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009); State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), rev. denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018, 936 P.2d 417 (1997).

Here, the deputy prosecutor told the jury in closing argument that it need not decide where the acts alleged fell on the "spectrum" of child molestation, "only whether or not it's on the spectrum." 10/30/13 RP 13. The deputy prosecutor next stated:

Maybe analogous to a pregnancy test, yes or no. If it's yes, it doesn't tell you how pregnant or how far along; just is or isn't.

10/30/13 RP 13.

The comparison of the reasonable doubt standard and a pregnancy test is inapposite.⁴ Our Supreme Court held in <u>Lindsay</u> that when a prosecutor compares the reasonable doubt standard and the certainty that jurors may feel in everyday situations -- such as when completing a puzzle or upon knowing they are safe to cross a street -- the prosecutor has improperly lowered the State's burden of proof. 326 P.3d at 132.

f. Reversal is required due to the misconduct, objected to and not, because the misconduct was prejudicial and impervious to curative instruction.

Although defense counsel did not object to two of the three improper arguments during the prosecutor's closing argument (see §§ 1(d) and (e), supra), appellate review is not precluded if the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have erased the prejudice. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 707, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Even under the more stringent standard for determining prejudice, applied to the two comments without objection, the result would be the same. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 707

(finding misconduct so pervasive it could not have been cured by an instruction, despite failure to object). Here, as in <u>Glasmann</u>, the cumulative effect of repeated prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument was so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions could have erased their combined prejudicial effect. <u>Id.</u>; <u>State v. Walker</u>, 164 Wn. App. 724, 737, 265 P.3d 191 (2011).

A prosecutor's misconduct is also viewed as flagrant and illintentioned where case law and professional standards are available to the prosecutor and clearly warn against the conduct committed at trial. <u>Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d at 707. It was well-settled law, well before Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana's trial, that arguments that trivialize the reasonable doubt standard are forbidden. <u>See, e.g., Anderson</u>, 153 Wn. App. at 431.

Existing case law also clearly warned prosecutors to refrain from arguments that suggested the jury must find "the victim or witness was mistaken or lying in order to acquit; instead, [the jury] is required to acquit unless it is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt." Id. (Quinn-Brintnall, J., concurring) (quoting

⁴ In a case involving allegations of sexual misconduct, as here, the analogy is particularly prejudicial and insensitive.

<u>Fleming</u>, 83 Wn. App. at 213) (finding it "disheartening" that "a dozen years since <u>Fleming</u>," prosecutors still argue that jurors must find the victim was lying in order to acquit, and thus explaining the flagrant and ill-intentioned finding).

The cumulative effect of misconduct may be so flagrant that no instruction could cure the combined prejudicial effects of the misconduct. Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 707. Here, the prosecutor lowered the burden of proof by clumsily analogizing the reasonable doubt standard to a pregnancy test; he also vouched for the alleged victim by arguing that she should be believed – or else was an award-winning liar. Lastly, the prosecutor argued that the jury should return a guilty verdict in order to hold "those people" accountable, after speaking of people who "prey on children." 10/30/13 RP 21-22.

Due to the remarks constituting misconduct in the closing argument, there is a substantial likelihood the remarks affected the jury's verdict; therefore, this Court should reverse Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana's conviction. Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 146-47; Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 214.

2. THE CONDITION OF COMMUNITY CUSTODY WHICH PROHIBITS FORMING RELATIONSHIPS WITH WOMEN OR FAMILIES WITH MINOR CHILDREN SHOULD BE STRICKEN AS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

In the instant case, one of the conditions of community custody imposed upon Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana at sentencing was the following:

8. Do not date women or form relationships with families who have minor children, as directed by the supervising Community Correction Officer.

CP 20 (Appendix 4.2 Additional Conditions of Community Custody).

This condition is written so broadly as to seemingly prohibit Mr.

Marrufo-Sarinana from maintaining communication with friends or
family members who "have minor children," regardless of whether those
children live with them, or whether the appellant has access to visitation.

The condition is unclear about written communication with such families,
and it delegates full authority to the community correction officer to
determine the conduct which is permitted.

Standard of review.

A sentencing court's decision to impose a crime-related community custody condition is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey</u>, 168 Wn.2d 367, 375, 229 P.3d 686 (2010) ("A court abuses its

discretion if, when imposing a crime-related prohibition, it applies the wrong legal standard").

An erroneous sentence may be challenged for the first time on appeal. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 752, 758, 193 P.3d 678 (2008) (finding condition prohibiting possession of pornography ripe for review and unconstitutionally vague). Where a sentence has been imposed for which there is no legal authority, appellate courts have the power and the duty to correct such an erroneous sentence upon discovery. See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Carle, 93 Wn.2d 31, 33-34, 604 P.2d 1293 (1980).

b. The condition prohibiting contact with families with minor children is unconstitutionally vague.

There is no presumption in favor of the constitutionality of a community custody condition. State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 792-93, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). In Sanchez Valencia, the Supreme Court considered a community custody condition prohibiting the possession of drug paraphernalia. 169 Wn.2d at 793. In considering the appellant's vagueness challenge, the Court acknowledged that a community custody condition "is not unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot predict with complete certainty the exact point at which his actions would

be classified as prohibited conduct." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Sanchez Valencia</u>, 148 Wn. App. 302, 321, 198 P.3d 1065) (2009) (internal quotation omitted).

However, the Sanchez Valencia Court held that the breadth of potential violations under the drug paraphernalia condition rendered it unconstitutionally vague. 169 Wn.2d at 793. Because the condition failed to "provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement," the condition failed to provide proper notice of proscribed conduct. Id. The Sanchez Valencia Court noted that the breadth of potential violations offends the vagueness test. Id.; Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 753. Because the condition might potentially encompass a wide range of everyday items, the Court noted concern that "an inventive probation officer could envision any common place item as possible for use as drug paraphernalia,' such as sandwich bags or paper." Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 794-95.

In <u>Bahl</u>, the Court expressed similar concern over the discretion the community correction officer was delegated to enforce the restriction on accessing or possessing pornographic materials. 164 Wn.2d at 758. The <u>Bahl</u> Court concluded the community custody condition prohibiting pornography was unconstitutionally vague, holding:

The fact that the condition provides that Bahl's <u>community</u> <u>corrections officer can direct</u> what falls within the condition only makes the vagueness problem more apparent, since it virtually acknowledges that on its face it does not provide ascertainable standards for enforcement.

Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 758 (emphasis added).

This community custody condition is unconstitutionally vague, just as were the conditions challenged in <u>Sanchez Valencia</u> and <u>Bahl</u>, above.

Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana has a due process right to fair warning of proscribed conduct. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, Const. art. I, sec. 3; <u>Bahl</u>, 164 Wn.2d at 752. Because the proscribed conduct in the challenged condition is vague, the condition must be stricken.

Under this condition, Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana, may not "date women or form relationships with families who have minor children." CP 20. Just as the Supreme Court held in <u>Bahl</u>, "the fact that the condition provides that [the] community corrections officer can direct what falls within the condition only makes the vagueness problem more apparent." 164 Wn.2d at 758. Should one community corrections officer determine that Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana is permitted to visit friends or relatives that have children in the home, but another officer disagree, the condition is not sufficiently definite to apprise the appellant of prohibited

conduct and does not prevent arbitrary enforcement. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, sec. 3.

Indeed, the condition is written so broadly as to prohibit forming relationships with "families who have minor children." – due to its generic language, it is difficult to conceive of many homes the 36-year-old appellant could ever visit. Read literally, the condition prohibits Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana from befriending any person if they "have minor children" – regardless of whether those children live in the home, or whether Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana ever visits that home.

Because the condition of community custody involving families with minor children is unconstitutionally vague, it must be stricken.

Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 794-95; Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 758.

⁵ More narrowly tailored, the condition might proscribe more specific conduct, such as, "overnight visits with families with young children living at home."

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Marrufo-Sarinana respectfully requests this Court reverse his conviction, or in the alternative, remand this matter for re-sentencing.