NO. 71303-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOSE MARRUFO-SARINANA,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

MARA J. ROZZANO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

1. THE PROSECUTOR APPROPRIATELY ARGUED THE FACTS AND LAW OF THIS CASE AND THEREBY THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL.

In a prosecutorial error¹ claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653, 662 (2012). If the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. But if the defendant failed to object at trial, the defendant is deemed to

¹ "'Prosecutorial misconduct' is a term of art but is really a misnomer when applied to mistakes made by the prosecutor during trial." State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 740 n. 1, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). Recognizing that words pregnant with meaning carry repercussions beyond the pale of the case at hand and can undermine the public's confidence in the criminal justice system, both the National District Attorneys Association (NDAA) and the American Bar Association's Criminal Justice Section (ABA) urge courts to limit the use of the phrase "prosecutorial misconduct" for intentional acts, rather than mere trial error. See American Bar Association Resolution 100B (Adopted Aug. 9-10, 2010),

http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/migrated/leadership/2010/annual/p dfs/100b.authcheckdam.pdf (last visited Aug. 29, 2014); National District Attorneys Association, Resolution Urging Courts to Use "Error" Instead of "Prosecutorial Misconduct" (Approved April 10 2010), http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/prosecutorial_misconduct_final.pdf (last_visited_Aug. 29. 2014). A number of appellate courts agree that the term "prosecutorial misconduct" is an unfair phrase that should be retired. See, e.g., State v. Fauci, 282 Conn. 23, 917 A.2d 978, 982 n. 2 (2007); State v. Leutschaft, 759 N.W.2d 414, 418 (Minn. App. 2009), review denied, 2009 Minn. LEXIS 196 (Minn., Mar. 17, 2009); Commonwealth v. Tedford, 598 Pa. 639, 960 A.2d 1, 28-29 (Pa. 2008). In responding to appellant's arguments, the State will use the phrase "prosecutorial error." The State urges this Court to use the same phrase in its opinions.

have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's conduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. In other words, the defendant must show that: (1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the conduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-761. Where improper argument is charged, the defense bears the burden of establishing the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney's comments as well as their prejudicial effect. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747, 785 (1994).

Instead of examining improper conduct in isolation, we determine the effect of a prosecutor's improper conduct by examining that conduct in the full trial context, including the evidence presented, "the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551, 555 (2011).

A. THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT DID NOT APPEAL TO THE JURORS PASSIONS AND PREJUDICES.

This court has held it permissible for a prosecutor to argue that the defendant be "held to account." State v. McNallie, 64 Wn.

App. 101, 110-11, 823 P.2d 1122 (1992), aff'd on other grounds, 120 Wn.2d 925, 846 P.2d 1358 (1993). "Arguments intended to "incite feelings of fear, anger, and a desire for revenge" that are " 'irrelevant, irrational, and inflammatory' " are improper appeals to passion or prejudice." In re Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 724, 327 P.3d 660, 694 (2014). The argument at question was not irrelevant, irrational or inflammatory. It was not a request to send a message. It was a request to hold the defendant accountable. Arguments asking the jury to hold a defendant accountable are not improper. That, in essence, is what the challenged remarks asserted. To the extent the remarks could be construed as an improper 'message' argument, they were neither flagrant nor incurable; they did not engender an incurable feeling of prejudice in the mind of the jury. Arguments which may evoke an emotional response are appropriate if restricted to the circumstances of the crime. Cross, 180 Wn.2d at 725.

"In this case, the prosecutor was making arguments based on evidence adduced at trial. [the defendant] has failed to meet his burden to establish that these comments were improper or that there is a substantial likelihood the jury verdict was affected thereby." <u>State v. Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 136, 180, 892 P.2d 29, 52 (1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1121 (1996).

B. THE PROSECUTOR WAS ALLOWED TO ARGUE REASONALBE INFERENCES FROM THE EVIDENCE AND THIS WAS NOT IMPROPER VOUCHING FOR THE VICTIM'S CREDIBILITY.

The defendant objects to the prosecutor's argument regarding Y.D.'s demeanor and consistency throughout the case as being deserving of an Academy Award if she was lying. Considered in context, these statements were a proper argument that the evidence did not support the defense theory that Y.D. had fabricated or mistaken the events in her complaints against the defendant. Cases involving alleged child sex abuse make the child's credibility an inevitable, central issue. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 933, 155 P.3d 125, 133 (2007).

A prosecutor may properly draw inferences from the evidence as to why the jury would want to believe one witness over another. Brett, 126 Wn.2d at 175. Prosecutors may, however, argue an inference from the evidence, and prejudicial error will not be found unless it is "clear and unmistakable" that counsel is expressing a personal opinion. Id. A prosecutor arguing the victim's testimony had a "badge of truth" and the "ring of truth" and

that it "rang out clearly with truth in it" was found to be proper argument when the credibility of the witness had been put in question by the defendant. "First, there was no explicit statement of personal opinion. (prejudicial error will not be found unless it is clear and unmistakable that counsel is expressing a personal opinion). Second, prosecutors have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the facts concerning witness credibility." State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 30, 195 P.3d 940, 946 (2008).

In the case at bar, the prosecutor was making a reasonable inference from the evidence regarding Y.D.'s presentation throughout the case. The testimony showed her sister described her as really scared and crying like she had never seen her cry before. Her mother described Y.D. as "Destroyed, crying, terrified"; and the prosecutor pointed out that the jury had been able to observe her demeanor in the courtroom when she testified. The prosecutor did not indicate he personally believed her or vouch for her credibility; he argued a reasonable inference from the evidence. As in Warren, the defendant did not object to this argument at trial. Warren, at 30.

C. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT MISSTATE THE LAW IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT.

The defendant has alleged the prosecutor misstated the law to the jury; trivializing the reasonable doubt standard by comparing it with a pregnancy test. This is not an accurate representation of the prosecutor's argument. The comment with regard to the pregnancy test was made when arguing to the jury that they didn't need to determine how bad a molestation was or even where it fell on the spectrum of molestation, just whether it had been proven to be molestation at all; specifically whether or not the State's evidence had proven it beyond a reasonable doubt. The pregnancy test comment was part of an argument against jury nullification and was not used in any way to explain or compare to the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

The jury was accurately instructed on the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. 1 CP 32. The instruction defined the burden as "a reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence."

The prosecutor reiterated the court's definition of reasonable doubt in his comments regarding the burden of proof. 3RP 18-19.

In addition, unlike the argument in <u>Anderson</u>, the prosecutor here did not attempt to downplay the seriousness of the burden of proof. The prosecutor acknowledged that reasonable doubt was a difficult concept, a significant burden. The defendant's trial counsel even commented on the prosecutor recognizing proof beyond a reasonable doubt is a heavy burden in her closing argument. <u>State</u> v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431-32, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009).

D. ANY PREJUDICE RESULTING FROM THE ARGUMENTS THE DEFENDANT IDENTIFIES AS IMPROPER COULD HAVE BEEN CURED WITH AN INSTRUCTION IF THE ARGUMENT WAS IMPROPER.

If the defendant did not object at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. Even if improper the defendant has not shown that any error could not have been neutralized by an instruction. When considering whether an instruction could cure any resulting prejudice from an erroneous argument the Court has looked to the nature of the arguments made, the other instructions given by the

court, and the strength of the State's case. Throughout his argument the prosecutor made it clear it was the State's burden to prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. When discussing the not married element he argued "The reason I have to ask it is if nobody says it, there's no evidence of it, and you can't find what the law requires you to find." 3RP 17.

In <u>Thorgersen</u> the court noted that an improper argument did not warrant reversal where the victim's testimony throughout trial was consistent with what witnesses testified she told them before trial. <u>State v. Thorgersen</u>, 172 Wn.2d 438, 452, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). In the case at bar, the victim's testimony was consistent with her prior reporting to her sister, mother, nurse and the defense attorney during the pre-trial interview.

In Anderson the prosecutor made three arguments relating to the burden of proof which the Court held were improper. One of the arguments trivialized the State's burden of proof by comparing the standard to everyday decision making. The Court found none of these arguments were so prejudicial in themselves that an instruction could not have cured the error. The Court's conclusion was further supported by the trial court's instruction regarding the

presumption of innocence which minimized any negative impact on the jury. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 431-32.

Because jurors are directed to disregard any argument that is not supported by the law and the court's instructions, a prosecutor's arguments do not carry the "imprimatur of both the government and the judiciary." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 759. Here the court properly instructed the jury on the burden of proof and the role of counsel's arguments. 1 CP 29, 32. The jury was instructed that the State bore the burden of proof, and the defendant had no burden of proving a reasonable doubt existed. 1 CP 32. The court also properly instructed the jury on the presumption of innocence, which may only be overcome by evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. 1 CP 32. The jury was instructed that the evidence consisted of the testimony and the exhibits. 1 CP 28.

2. THE SENTENCING COURT DID NOT ERR BY IMPOSING THE CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION.

As part of his sentence, the defendant was ordered to be on community custody for the rest of his life. Sentencing RP 6. Among the conditions imposed, the sentencing court required the defendant to not date women or form relationships with families who have minor children, as directed by the supervising Community

Corrections Officer. The defendant objects to the sentencing court imposing this condition.

"Generally, imposing conditions of community custody is within the discretion of the sentencing court and will be reversed if manifestly unreasonable." State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 791-92, 239 P.3d 1059, 1063 (2010)(internal citations omitted). Thus, a sentence will be reversed only if it is "manifestly unreasonable" such that "no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 37, 846 P.2d 1365, 1374 (1993). Here as the defendant violated the trust of the victim's family and took advantage of the opportunity of a sleeping child, the condition is clearly crime related. However, the defendant claims this condition is constitutionally vague.

A. THE INVITED ERROR DOCTRINE PRECLUDES THE DEFENDANT FROM COMPLAINING THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY IMPOSING THE AGREED CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION.

The invited error doctrine applies only where the defendant engaged in some affirmative action by which he knowingly and voluntarily set up the error. Where it applies, this doctrine precludes judicial review even where the alleged error raises constitutional issues. <u>State v. Phelps</u>, 113 Wn. App. 347, 353, 57

P.3d 624, 628 (2002). The defendant is not alleging the sentencing court acted beyond its jurisdiction by imposing the crime related condition that the defendant not date women or form relationships with families who have minor children, as directed by the supervising Community Corrections Officer. The defendant complains of the conditions vagueness. However, it is clear from the record that the defendant affirmatively agreed with the condition. The prosecutor provided the court with a list of proposed conditions indicating he and the defendant's attorney had gone through the list, made some deletions and changed some of the language. The sentencing court announced he was signing off on the agreed upon DOC conditions the lawyers had agreed upon. At no time did the defendant object or assert that he was not in agreement with the conditions. This was an affirmative agreement with the language of the condition and as such any objection to the condition is barred.

B. THE CONDITION IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

The due process vagueness doctrine under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the state constitution requires that citizens have fair warning of proscribed conduct. This assures that ordinary people can understand what is and is not allowed, and

are protected against arbitrary enforcement of the laws. State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 791, 239 P.3d 1059, 1063 (2010). In Valencia, the condition against possession of paraphernalia was found to be over-broad because it was not limited to drug paraphernalia and it reasonably followed that the condition might potentially encompass a wide range of everyday items and thus did not provide an ascertainable standard of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement. Id. at 794. This would be akin to the condition imposed here, if the sentencing court had left out the qualifier of "minor" children. However, that is not the case, the qualifier is part of the condition and it is sufficiently specific to allow the average person fair warning of the conduct to be avoided and to protect the defendant from arbitrary, ad hoc or discriminatory law enforcement.

. . . .

Limitations upon fundamental rights are permissible, provided they are imposed sensitively. State v. Riley, 121 Wn.2d 22, 37, 846 P.2d 1365, 1374 (1993).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the State asks the Court to affirm the defendant's conviction.